

Physician Practices: Background, Organization, and Market Consolidation

/name redacted/

Analyst in Health Care Financing

January 2, 2013

Congressional Research Service

7-.... www.crs.gov R42880

Summary

A growing number of U.S. physicians are combining their practices; affiliating with hospitals, insurance companies, and specialty management firms; or going to work directly for such organizations. The moves are part of a broader trend toward consolidation in health care, with the overall number of mergers and acquisitions in the sector at the highest level in a decade.

Alterations in physician practice appear to be a response to a number of factors. Younger doctors are more eager than their predecessors to work for an outside institution, such as a hospital, to secure a set schedule and salary. Private practices have become more complex to manage, even as physician compensation has been declining. Doctors see financial advantages to building larger practices, in terms of ability to control expenses and negotiate higher fees with insurers. Further, not all trends are toward consolidation. A small but growing number of doctors are reacting to market incentives by moving in a different direction: creating concierge practices in which they see a limited number of patients who pay an annual retainer.

According to experts, physician practices also may be affected, in part, by provisions of the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA, P.L. 111-148, as amended), designed to spur closer financial and clinical affiliation among health care providers. For example, the ACA creates health care delivery systems called Accountable Care Organizations (ACOs), under which providers contract to oversee a patient's total course of care in a bid to manage costs and improve quality. A number of physician practices, insurers, and hospitals have announced affiliations to qualify as ACOs. In another move partly spurred by the ACA, hospitals and health plans have been hiring physicians to ensure they will have adequate staff to treat the millions of Americans projected to gain insurance during the next few years. Several major studies have warned of a looming shortage of physicians, particularly primary care doctors.

Congress is playing dual roles regarding the consolidation. On the one hand, the ACA was designed, in part, to prompt affiliation among doctors and other health care providers in order to reduce fragmentation and help control government and private health spending. At the same time, lawmakers are monitoring the health care system for signs that consolidation is having negative effects on consumer access, prices, and competition. The health care sector went through a similar round of restructuring during the 1980s and 1990s, including mergers and acquisitions of physician practices, ultimately prompting a backlash from some consumers who complained they were being blocked from specialists and procedures. The ACA envisions a different system of "patient-centered care," where doctors and other providers are given incentives to improve quality and efficiency, rather than to limit services. Still, it remains to be seen how the current round of changes will play out as physicians and other providers form larger organizations. This report provides background on factors contributing to changes in physician practice organization, including physician supply, sources of revenue, operating costs, and government incentives. It also examines the different types of integration, the legal intricacies of affiliation, and the possible implications for consumer and federal policy.

Contents

Introduction	1
Physician Supply	4
Supporting Practitioners	5
Practice Consolidation	6
Market Trends	9
Larger Group Practices and Physician Organizations	9
Hospital Affiliation and Employment	
Affiliation with Insurers and Other Payers	
Delivery Reforms	14
Concierge Practices	15
Legal Issues	16
Issues for Congress	17
Medical Spending	18
Access	
Coordinated Care/Quality	20

Figures

Tables

Table 1. Changes in Physician Practice Over Time	8
Table A-1. Median Compensation for Select Physician Specialties	23

Appendixes

Appendix. Physician Income and Practice Costs	2
---	---

Contacts

Author Co	ontact Information			
-----------	--------------------	--	--	--

Introduction

Most Americans enter the health care system through their local physician's office, which is the setting for 84% of primary care visits.¹ Historically, physicians have operated in what the American Medical Association and others have called a "cottage industry"² of small or solo practices around the country. Even now, the majority of the approximately 972,376 doctors and residents³ in the United States work mainly from smaller, office-based practices.⁴ This decentralized network has served to deliver medical services to most Americans, but it has also been cited by analysts as a reason that the health care market is inefficient, with patients seeing duplicate providers who may prescribe overlapping treatments or deliver widely divergent, uncoordinated care.⁵

During the past several years, however, physician practices appear to be changing, as a number of doctors merge their offices into larger practices; sell their practices to hospitals, insurance companies, and physician management firms; contract to provide exclusive services to providers such as hospitals; or go to work for larger providers as salaried employees.⁶ While there are no definitive statistics, a 2011 American Hospital Association (AHA) survey found the number of doctors on hospital payrolls had increased by 32% from 2000 to 2010, with the rate of increase

⁴ U.S. Census Bureau, Industry Statistics Sampler, NAICS 62111, "Offices of Physicians," http://www.census.gov/ econ/industry/hierarchy/i62111.htm; SNR Denton and The Lewin Group for the American Medical Association, "The State-Level Economic Impact of Office-Based Physicians," February 2011, p. A-2, http://www.ama-assn.org/resources/ doc/arc/economic-impact/economic-impact-report.pdf; Centers for Disease Control, *National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey: 2009 Summary Tables*, Table 2, http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ahcd/namcs_summary/ 2009_namcs_web_tables.pdf.

¹ Esther Hing and Sayeedha Uddin, "Visits to Primary Care Delivery Sites: United States, 2008," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, *NCHS Data Brief*, No. 47, October 2010, http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db47.htm.

² "Virtual Mentor," *American Medical Association Journal of Ethics*, Vol. 13, No. 11, November 2011, p. 750-752, http://virtualmentor.ama-assn.org/2011/11/pdf/fred1-1111.pdf.

³ Estimates of the U.S. physician supply vary. The American Medical Association estimated there were 972,376 doctors of medicine in 2009, including 792,805 active physicians. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Health, United States, 2011*, Table 111, http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/hus/2011/111.pdf. Another estimate, based on information from state medical boards, places the number of active physicians at 850,000. See Aaron Young, Humayun Chaudhry, Janelle Rhyne, and Michael Dugan, "A Census of Actively Licensed Physicians in the United States, 2010," *Journal of Medical Regulation*, Vol. 96, No., 4, 2010-11, pp. 10-20.

⁵ Anthony Shih, Karen Davis, Stephen Schoenbaum, Anne Gauthier, Rachel Nuzum, and Douglas McCarthy, *Organizing the U.S. Health Care Delivery System for High Performance*, The Commonwealth Fund, August 2008, http://www.commonwealthfund.org/usr_doc/Shih_organizingushltcaredeliverysys_1155.pdf.

⁶ There is a wide range of evidence that more physician practices are merging or being sold to hospitals and other institutions. See Jeff Goldsmith, Associate Professor, University of Virginia, for the Physicians Foundation, "The Future of Medical Practice: Creating Options for Practicing Physicians to Control Their Professional Destiny," July 2012, http://www.physiciansfoundation.org/uploads/default/Future_of_Medical_Practices__Goldsmith__Final.pdf http://www.physiciansfoundation.org/uploadedFiles/Future of Medical Practices %28Goldsmith%29 Final.pdf, Allison Leibhaber and Joy Grossman, "Physicians Moving to Mid-Sized, Single-Specialty Practices," Center for Studying Health System Change, *Tracking Report*, No. 18, August 2007, http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/941/?topic= topic22. See also Chad Terhune, "State Investigating Medical Consolidations," *Los Angeles Times*, September 15, 2012, http://articles.latimes.com/2012/sep/15/business/la-fi-0915-hospital-doctors-review-20120915; and Victoria Stagg Elliott, "More Cardiologists Embrace Working for Hospitals," *American Medical News*, September 24, 2012, http://www.ama-assn.org/amednews/2012/09/24/bisc0924.htm.

accelerating after 2005.⁷ According to the AHA, about 20% of practicing physicians now work for hospitals. The Medical Group Management Association (MGMA), which represents larger medical practices and outpatient clinics, has noted an increase in the share of medical groups owned by U.S. hospitals, while other surveys have also found rising hospital employment of doctors, with some regional variations.⁸ For example, an American College of Cardiology survey found the share of physician-owned cardiology practices declined to 60% in 2012 from 73% in 2007, while the share of such practices owned by hospitals grew from 8% to an estimated 24%.⁹

The changes appear to be the result of a number of factors, including broad consolidation in the overall health care industry that has created dominant hospitals and insurers in many areas. In order to gain negotiating leverage with large providers and payers, a number of physicians have merged their practices into larger groups or entered into business arrangements with them. Lifestyle preferences are at play, with younger doctors more willing than their predecessors to work for an outside institution to secure a set schedule and salary; about half of doctors hired out of residencies or fellowships in 2010 took jobs at hospitals.¹⁰ Physicians may be having a harder time finding doctors to buy or join a small practice, as management becomes more complex and average compensation declines.¹¹

At the same time, hospitals and insurers are eager to hire doctors, given forecasts of a pending physician shortage by the end of the decade (see "Physician Supply"). The shortfall is predicted to occur in the midst of rising demand for medical services by aging baby boomers and millions of Americans who could gain insurance coverage under the 2010 Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (ACA, P.L. 111-148 as amended).¹² According to some experts, financial incentives in the ACA may provide further incentives for consolidation and integration of services.¹³ For example, the health care law creates integrated delivery systems called

⁷American Hospital Association, *AHA Hospital Statistics, 2012 Edition*, p. vii. Includes full- and part-time physicians, interns, residents, and dentists; though dentists are a small number of the overall total. According to the AHA, the number of physicians employed by hospitals rose to 212,000 in 2010. During the 2007-2009 recession, two-thirds of hospital administrators reported being approached by doctors seeking financial support, including employment.

⁸ Medical Group Management Association-American College of Medical Practice Executives, Presentation to Missouri State Medical Association, "Physician/Hospital Integration: Is It In Your Future?" April 17, 2012; Ann O'Malley, Amelia Bond, and Robert Berenson, "Rising Hospital Employment of Physicians: Better Quality, Higher Costs?" Center for Studying Health System Change, *Issue Brief* No. 136, August 2011, http://hschange.org/CONTENT/1230.

⁹ American College of Cardiology, "ACC's 2012 Practice Census Shows Continued Changes in Practice Landscape," News Release, September 10, 2012, http://www.cardiosource.org/News-Media/Publications/Cardiology-Magazine/ ACC-Practice-Census-2012.aspx. Survey sent to 2,520 practices with a 42% response rate.

¹⁰ Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, *Report to the Congress, Medicare Payment Policy*, March 2012, p. 18, http://www.medpac.gov/documents/Mar12_EntireReport.pdf. Report cites MGMA data.

¹¹ Douglas Staiger, David Auerbach, and Peter Buerhaus, "Trends in the Work Hours of Physicians in the United States," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, Vol. 303, No. 8, February 24, 2010, p. 747-753, http://jama.jamanetwork.com/article.aspx?articleid=185433; and Ha Tu and Paul Ginsburg, "Losing Ground: Physician Income, 1995-2003," Center for Studying Health System Change, *Tracking Report*, No. 15, June 2006, http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/851/851.pdf.

¹² CRS Report R42029, *Physician Supply and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

¹³ Martin Gaynor and Robert Town, "The Impact of Hospital Consolidation – Update," Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, June 2012, http://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/issue_briefs/2012/rwjf73261. The authors point out that there are differences between consolidation, the bringing together of two entities, and integration, which is coordinating services and management. One question is whether the ACA, through ACOs and other efforts, can improve coordinated care and quality of services

Accountable Care Organizations (ACO)¹⁴ that contract with payers who agree to be responsible for the entire continuum of care provided to a group of patients. If the treatment costs less than set targets, and certain quality measures are met, the ACO and the payer share in the savings.¹⁵ Hundreds of physician practices, insurers, and hospitals have announced financial and clinical integration to quality as ACOs.¹⁶

The ongoing changes in practice organization—if they alter the way that physicians deliver care—could help determine whether the U.S. health care system expands access, improves quality of treatment, and addresses the growth of government and private health care spending, according to analysts.¹⁷ Though physician payments account for about 20% of medical spending,¹⁸ studies suggest that physicians direct as much as 90% of total health care spending through referrals, tests, hospital admissions, and other actions.¹⁹

Congress is playing dual roles regarding the consolidation. On the one hand, lawmakers designed the ACA in part to reduce health delivery fragmentation and help control government and private spending. In addition, Congress and federal regulators have been monitoring, and continue to monitor, the health care system for signs that mergers and acquisitions may be having negative effects on costs, competition, and consumer access such as distorting prices²⁰ or creating conflicts of interest in provision of services.²¹ Analysts and lawmakers are aware that the health care sector went through a similar round of restructuring during the 1980s and 1990s, as physicians sold their practices and managed care insurance plans expanded. The changes ultimately prompted a consumer backlash, and many of the deals were dissolved.²² In contrast to the previous round of consolidation, where doctors were seen as gatekeepers for managed care plans that attempted to limit services, the ACA envisions "patient-centered" care where doctors and other providers are

¹⁴ The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services defines ACOs as "groups of doctors, hospitals, and other health care providers, who come together voluntarily to give coordinated high quality care to their Medicare patients ... When an ACO succeeds both in delivering high-quality care and spending health care dollars more wisely, it will share in the savings it achieves for the Medicare program." A medical home refers to a physician's office or other health care provider serving as the base for coordinating services for a patient. Bundled payments are capped payments for the totality of care of a condition, rather than individual payments for each service.

¹⁵ CRS Report R41474, Accountable Care Organizations and the Medicare Shared Savings Program, by (name reda cted).

¹⁶ Leavitt Partners and KLAS Research, "Leavitt Partners and KLAS Research Release Comprehensive Report on Accountable Care Organizations," November 30, 2012, http://news.leavittpartners.com/newsrelease-cid-1-id-46.html.

¹⁷ Peter Orszag and Ezekiel Emanuel, "Health Care Reform and Cost Control," *The New England Journal of Medicine*. Vol. 363, No. 7, p. 601-603, August 12, 2010; Phil Galewitz, *Kaiser Health News for USA TODAY*, "Obama's Health Law Has Accelerated Marketplace Change," March 26, 2012, http://www.usatoday.com/money/industries/health/story/2012-03-19/health-law-accelerates-marketplace-change/53791744/1. In 2011, about 100 physician groups were sold, mostly to hospitals, up from 63 in 2010.

¹⁸ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, *National Health Expenditures*, Table 4, https://www.cms.gov/Research-Statistics-Data-and-Systems/Statistics-Trends-and-Reports/NationalHealthExpendData/Downloads/tables.pdf

¹⁹ John Eisenberg, "Physician Utilization: The State of Research About Physicians' Practice Patterns," *Medical Care*, Vol. 40, No. 11, 2002, p. 1016-1035.

²⁰ House Committee on Ways and Means, Hearing on Health Care Industry Consolidation, September 9, 2011, http://waysandmeans.house.gov/News/DocumentSingle.aspx?DocumentID=272374.

²¹ Academy Health, "Integration, Concentration, and Competition in the Provider Marketplace," *Research Insights* paper based on December 2010 meeting for federal policymakers in 2010 funded by the U.S. Agency for Health Care Research and Quality, http://www.academyhealth.org/files/publications/AH_R_Integration%20FINAL2.pdf.

²² American Medical Association, Practice Management Center, "ACOs, CO-OPs, and Other Options, A How-To Manual for Physicians Navigating a Post-Reform World," Second Edition, http://www.ama-assn.org/resources/doc/psa/physician-how-to-manual.pdf.

rewarded for necessary treatment that improves quality of outcomes. Still, it is not clear how the new round of changes ultimately will play out.

This report provides background on factors contributing to changes in physician practice organization, including physician supply, lifestyle changes, and government incentives. Next it examines different types of integration, the legal intricacies of affiliation, and the possible implications for consumer and federal policy.

Physician Supply

Most U.S. physicians are MDs, or doctors of medicine, who have completed four years of medical school and a minimum of three years of residency, with specialists undergoing additional training. About 7% of the more than 972,376 physicians and residents²³ are osteopaths, who have completed medical education and additional training in areas including the musculoskeletal system.²⁴ The physician population is about one-third primary care physicians and two-thirds specialists, a distribution that some experts suggest is not optimal. A quarter of U.S. doctors are graduates of international medical schools. The ratio of physicians to the population varies across the country, with New England and the Middle Atlantic regions having the highest number of doctors per capita, and the West South Central and Mountain regions having the fewest.²⁵ Rural areas are struggling to attract enough physicians.²⁶

In the 1980s, after a congressional effort to fund an expansion of U.S. medical education, experts forecasted a possible surplus of doctors.²⁷ More recently, however, analysts have predicted that the country faces a potential shortage, particularly in primary care. The federal Health Resources and Services Administration in 2006 predicted a shortfall of 55,000 to 150,000 physicians by 2020, while the nonprofit Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC) in 2008 said there

²³ Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, *Health, United States, 2011*, Table 111, http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/ hus/2011/111.pdf. The majority of these physicians provided patient care (749,566, or 77%). The remaining physicians were inactive (11%), in administration (2%), conducting research (1%), or teaching (1%). These percentages do not sum to 100% because of rounding or because some physicians are not classified or their professional activity is unknown. See also Derek R. Smart, *Physician Characteristics and Distribution in the US, 2011 Edition*, American Medical Association, 2011.

²⁴ Osteopaths treat the patient as a whole, rather than focusing on one system or body part. An osteopathic physician will often use a treatment method called *osteopathic manipulative treatment*, described as a hands-on approach to make sure the body is moving freely.

²⁵ American Medical Association, *Physician Characteristics and Distribution in the U.S., 2011 Edition*, Chapter 3.

²⁶ Daniel Mareck, "Federal and State Initiatives to Recruit Physicians to Rural Areas," *American Medical Association Journal of Ethics, Virtual Mentor*, Vol. 13, No. 5, May 2011, p. 304-309; http://virtualmentor.ama-assn.org/2011/05/pfor1-1105.html.

²⁷ CRS Report R42029, *Physician Supply and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted); Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, "Will the United States Have a Shortage of Physicians in 10 Years?" November 2009.

could be a dearth of 130,600 patient care physicians by 2025.²⁸ Following up in 2012, the AAMC found that 33 states had documented current physician shortages or were anticipating shortages.²⁹

Adding to concerns, nearly a third of physicians are age 55 or older and nearing retirement.³⁰ In addition, studies indicate that doctors of both sexes and from varying backgrounds are working fewer hours each week, a change more pronounced among younger doctors.³¹ A 2010 study found a nearly 6% decrease in hours among nonresident physicians from 1996-1998 to 2006-2008. The reduction in hours was akin to a loss of 36,000 doctors, had the number of hours worked not changed.³² Some analysts have suggested that the combination of retirements and lifestyle changes will put a tremendous stress on the system and hasten the need for doctors to find more efficient ways to practice.³³

The forecast supply shortage and changes in work patterns are already having impacts, according to analysts. For example, some hospitals have been having increasing difficulty finding physicians to take voluntary duty and have hired more full-time staff doctors, including hospitalists, who oversee patient care in hospitals, and emergency room physicians (see "Hospital Affiliation and Employment"). A number of hospitals are seeking to hire or affiliate with primary care physicians, to ensure supply, staff outpatient centers, gain access to referral networks, and form ACOs. A 2010 survey by the American Hospital Association found 80% of hospitals were looking to hire primary care physicians.³⁴

Supporting Practitioners

Mitigating the projected physician shortage somewhat is the growing use of professionals who are not doctors but who have specialized training and can perform some basic functions of physicians, including nurse practitioners and physician assistants. In 2009, nearly half of all office-based physician practices included nurse practitioners, certified nurse midwives, or

²⁸ American Association of Medical Colleges, "The Impact of Health Care Reform on the Future Supply and Demand for Physicians, Updated Projections Through 2025," June 2010, https://www.aamc.org/download/158076/data/updated_projections_through_2025.pdf. The AAMC estimates, which reflect the impact of the ACA on demand, project that the supply of active patient care physicians of all specialties will be 785,400 in 2025, while there will be a demand will be for 916,000 such physicians – meaning a shortfall of 14%.

²⁹ Association of American Medical Colleges, Center for Workforce Studies, "Recent Studies and Reports on Physician Shortages in the U.S.," August 2012, https://www.aamc.org/download/100598/data/recentworkforcestudies.pdf.

³⁰ Jeff Goldsmith, Associate Professor, University of Virginia for the Physicians Foundation, "The Future of Medical Practice: Creating Options for Practicing Physicians to Control Their Professional Destiny," July 2012, http://www.physiciansfoundation.org/uploads/default/Future of Medical Practices Goldsmith Final.pdf.

³¹ Douglas Staiger, David Auerbach, and Peter Buerhaus, "Trends in the Work Hours of Physicians in the United States," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, Vol. 303, No. 8, February 24, 2010, p. 747, http://jama.ama-assn.org/content/303/8/747.full.pdf+html; Ha Tu and Paul Ginsburg, "Losing Ground: Physician Income 1995-2003," Tracking Report No. 15, Center for Studying Health System Change, June 2006, http://www.hschange.org/CONTENT/ 851/.

³² Douglas Staiger, David Auerbach, and Peter Buerhaus, "Trends in the Work Hours of Physicians in the United States," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, Vol. 303, No. 8, February 24, 2010, p. 747, http://jama.amaassn.org/content/303/8/747.full.pdf+html.

³³ Jeff Goldsmith, Associate Professor, University of Virginia for the Physicians Foundation, "The Future of Medical Practice: Creating Options for Practicing Physicians to Control Their Professional Destiny," July 2012, http://www.physiciansfoundation.org/uploads/default/Future of Medical Practices Goldsmith Final.pdf.

³⁴ American Hospital Association, "The State of America's Hospitals: Taking the Pulse," May 24, 2010.

physician assistants.³⁵ However, state laws vary in terms of the scope of services that nurse practitioners and physician assistants are allowed to provide.³⁶

Nurse practitioners must complete graduate education beyond the bachelor's degree needed to become a registered nurse. They can work with physicians or separately in such areas as taking case histories, performing basic exams, ordering lab work and prescribing some medications, and providing health education and counseling. There are approximately 155,000 active U.S. nurse practitioners.³⁷

Physician assistants complete at least two years of college courses in basic science and behavioral science before applying to one of the 170 accredited physician assistant programs. Most physician assistants have a bachelor's degree, another 27 months of specialized training, and 2,000 hours of clinical rotations.³⁸ Physician assistants, once licensed by state boards, generally can take patient medical histories, examine patients, treat minor injuries, order and interpret laboratory tests, and make rounds in medical facilities.³⁹ There are about 86,000 certified physician assistants in the United States.

Practice Consolidation

Historically, physicians have operated in small or solo practices,⁴⁰ with a number of factors limiting integration with other health care providers. In states such as California, laws designed to bar the corporate practice of medicine complicated efforts at affiliation between physician practices and insurance companies or hospitals.⁴¹ Doctors and hospitals have been paid separately for services, minimizing the need for tight coordination, though physicians benefited from access to and affiliations with hospitals, including serving on voluntary staff or taking call.⁴²

³⁵ Melissa Park, Donald Cherry, and Sandra Decker, "Nurse Practitioners, Certified Nurse Midwives, and Physician Assistants in Physician Offices," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, *NCHS Brief*, No. 69, August 2011, http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/databriefs/db69.htm.

³⁶There is a debate in Congress and in state legislatures about whether to expand the scope of practice for such professionals. Julie Fairman, John Rowe, Susan Hassmiller, and Donna Shalala, "Broadening the Scope of Nursing Practice," *New England Journal of Medicine*, Vol. 364, No. 3, January 20, 2011, pp. 193-196; American Medical Association, *Nurse Practitioners*, Scope of Practice Series, October 2009, http://aanp.org/AANPCMS2/publicpages/08-0424%20SOP%20Nurse%20Revised%2010-09.pdf.

³⁷ American Academy of Nurse Practitioners, Fact Sheet, http://aanp.org/all-about-nps/np-fact-sheet.

³⁸ Bureau of Labor Statistics, *Occupational Handbook 2010-2011 Edition: Physician Assistants*, http://www.bls.gov/oco/ocos081.htm.

³⁹ American Academy of Physician Assistants, http://www.aapa.org/the_pa_profession/what_is_a_pa.aspx.

⁴⁰ Larger group practices did form early, but represented just a small share of physicians. What is now the Mayo Clinic grew from a multispecialty practice founded in the 1860s in Rochester, Minnesota. The Cleveland Clinic was founded as a group practice in the 1920s by doctors who had served in Europe during World War I. Kaiser Permanente evolved during the 1930s as a prepaid group practice for workers on large public works projects, including the Grand Coulee Dam.

⁴¹ Allegra Kim, *The Corporate Practice of Medicine Doctrine*, California Research Bureau, CRB 07-011, October 2007, http://www.library.ca.gov/crb/07/07-011.pdf. Laws and court cases in California and other states prohibit or limit the corporate practice of medicine, limiting the ability of hospitals to employ doctors for outpatient services, for example. The laws are intended to ensure that medical decisions are based on the needs of a patient. Experts say such laws can limit the ability of physician practices to affiliate with outside organizations or to hire a management team, though doctors can be closely tied to hospitals through other means.

⁴² Ann O'Malley, Amelia Bond and Robert Berenson, "Rising Hospital Employment of Physicians: Better Quality, (continued...)

There has long been a debate about the efficiency of the decentralized physician practice structure. During the 1930s, for example, a health sector-created blue ribbon "Committee on the Costs of Medical Care" suggested improving health care by moving toward a more coordinated system centered on hospitals, including affiliation between doctors and hospitals. The recommendations created controversy, with some groups concerned that such a change would lead to the corporate practice of medicine, affecting quality and physician independence.⁴³

In the 1980s and 1990s, the type of broad system changes that some health experts had advocated appeared to take root, including the growth of managed care plans, where health insurers coordinate use of health care for enrollees by directly arranging for services through affiliated physicians, hospitals, and other providers. A number of physicians sold their practices to hospitals or specialty physician management companies, as health plans were able to pressure providers to accept lower payment rates and assume some financial risk for patient care.⁴⁴

But as consumers protested the managed care restrictions on services, and hospitals and physician management firms found they had overpaid for some physician practices, managed care plans loosened their controls and a number of mergers and acquisitions were dissolved. For example, in California from 1998 to 2002 nearly 150 physician organizations that served millions of patients closed or went into bankruptcy.⁴⁵ Though consolidation slowed, it continued (see **Table 1**).

According to one estimate, the share of doctors with an ownership stake in their practices declined from 62% in 1996-1997 to 54% in 2004-2005.⁴⁶ The percentage of office visits to physicians in solo practices declined from 38.7% in 1997 to 30.5% in 2007, while the share visiting physicians in practices of 6-10 physicians rose from 12.1% in 1997 to 17.7% in 2007.⁴⁷

^{(...}continued)

Higher Costs?" Center for Studying Health System Change, *Issue Brief*, No. 136, August 2011, http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/1230/.

⁴³ Barbara Bridgman Perkins, "Economic Organization of Medicine and the Committee on the Costs of Medical Care," *American Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 88, No. 11, November 1998, p. 1724, http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/ articles/PMC1508565/pdf/amjph00023-0127.pdf. The reasoning behind such laws is that medical decisions should be made by doctors on the basis of medical need.

⁴⁴ Testimony of Paul Ginsburg, Center for Studying Health System Change, House Committee on Ways and Means, Hearing on Health Care Industry Consolidation, September 9, 2011, http://waysandmeans.house.gov/uploadedfiles/ginsburg_testimony_9-9-11_final.pdf.

⁴⁵ American Medical Association, Practice Management Center, "ACOs, CO-OPs, and Other Options, A How-To Manual for Physicians Navigating a Post-Reform World," Second Edition, http://www.ama-assn.org/resources/doc/psa/ physician-how-to-manual.pdf.

⁴⁶ Allison Liebhaber and Joy Grossman, "Physicians Moving to Mid-Sized, Single-Specialty Practices," Center for Studying Health System Change, Tracking Report, No. 18, August 2007, http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/941/.

⁴⁷ Chun-Ju Hsiao, Donald Cherry, Paul Beatty, and Elizabeth Rechtsteiner, "National Ambulatory Medical Care Survey: 2007 Summary," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics, *National Health Statistics Reports*, November 3, 2010, p. 3, http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/data/nhsr/nhsr027.pdf. Visits to groups of two doctors, or those of 11 or more, remained mostly stable.

	8/-			
Practice Setting	1996-1997	1998-1999	2000-2001	2004-2005
Solo/Two Physicians	40.7%	37.4%	32.5%	32.5%
Small Group, 3-5 Physicians	12.2%	9.6%	11.7%	9.8%
Medium Group, 6-50 Physicians	13.1%	14.2%	15.8%	17.6%
Large Group, More than 50 Physicians	2.9%	3.5%	2.7%	4.2%
Staff/Group HMO	5.0%	4.6%	3.8%	4.5%
Hospital-Owned, Medical School or Other	26.3%	30.8%	30.8%	31.4%

Table	١.	Changes	in	Physician	Practice	Over Time
-------	----	---------	----	------------------	----------	------------------

Source: Center for Studying Health System Change, http://facts.kff.org/chart.aspx?ch=185. Also http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/941/?topic=topic22.

Note: While the center has 2008 data, the methodology was changed from the 2004-205 survey, meaning that the results cannot be directly compared.

More recently there has been what some analysts call a reconsolidation of physician practices.⁴⁸ While there are limited data at the individual office level, general surveys and studies have found a decline in the number of solo practices and an increase in the number of larger practices. There appears to be a rise in the number of practices owned by hospitals and insurers, and in the share of doctors in private practices working under exclusive contract to hospitals and insurance companies.⁴⁹ The Center for Studying Health System Change, in a 2010 survey of 12 communities, found rising hospital employment of physicians, with some regional variations.⁵⁰ Separately, a 2008 survey by the American Medical Association, which includes more solo and smaller practices than the MGMA data, did not show that the share of physicians working for hospitals had increased significantly since 2000, but did indicate that fewer doctors owned their practices and more were working as employees.⁵¹

The consulting firm Accenture predicted that just a third of U.S. doctors would be truly independent by 2013, which Accenture defines as physicians who are in a partnership or have an ownership share in a practice.⁵² The 33% figure compares to 57% in 2000 and 43% in 2009. A 2012 report by the California Health Care Foundation listed a number of factors for the trends in

⁴⁸ VMG Health, "Valuing Physician Practices for Acquisitions: Assessing Acquisition Price & Compensation," http://www.vmghealth.com/Downloads/Becker%27sHospitalReview2011.pdf.

⁴⁹ David Hilgers and Sidney Welch, "Physicians Post-PPACA: Not Going Bust At The Healthcare Buffet (Conclusion)," *Physicians News Digest*, April 1, 2012, http://www.physiciansnews.com/2012/04/01/physicians-post-ppaca-not-going-bust-at-the-healthcare-buffet-conclusion/.

⁵⁰ Ann O'Malley, Amelia Bond and Robert Berenson, "Rising Hospital Employment of Physicians: Better Quality, Higher Costs?" Center for Studying Health System Change, *Issue Brief*, No. 136, August 2011, http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/1230/.

⁵¹ Carol Kane, "The Practice Arrangements of Patient Care Physicians 2007-2008: An Analysis by Age Cohort and Gender," American Medical Association, 2009, http://www.ama-assn.org/ama1/pub/upload/mm/363/prp-200906-phys-prac-arrange.pdf. Supplemented by interview with AMA staff.

⁵² Andrew Ziskind, Kristin Ficery, and Richard Fu, "Adapting to a New Model of Physician Employment," Accenture, *Outlook Point of View*, No. 2, August 2011, http://www.accenture.com/SiteCollectionDocuments/PDF/Accenture-Outlook-Physician-Trends-August-2011-No2.pdf. Follow up interview with Accenture on April 24, 2012.

that state, including the complexity and cost of running a practice; health care providers' concern about a potential shortage of physicians; declining reimbursement for services, including Medicare and Medicaid; and the cost of implementing new systems such as electronic health records.⁵³

Market Trends

The practice changes are taking several forms. There is horizontal consolidation, where businesses in the same part of the production process band together for economies of scale and to forestall competition, including mergers of specialty practices. There is vertical consolidation, where different industry segments form financial and clinical affiliations to seek potential efficiency gains. Examples of such consolidation and integration include hospitals buying physician practices or hiring physicians; physicians affiliating with insurers; and formation of ACOs. While not consolidation per say, the growth of concierge practices is another response to economic and other factors, and could affect physician supply and patient care.

Larger Group Practices and Physician Organizations

The share of solo and small practices has been declining, while the number of larger practices is increasing, with some spanning a number of counties or entire states.⁵⁴ Larger physician practices, particularly specialty practices, have advantages such as increased leverage in negotiations with insurance companies, greater purchasing power,⁵⁵ and efficiencies in overhead and in their ability to use advanced technology and other patient-management tools.⁵⁶

Physicians can organize into different configurations, from mergers to independent practice associations, which are organizations of physicians who maintain their independent corporate status but can integrate financially or clinically and contract as a group.⁵⁷ In addition, activity by for-profit practice management companies, which buy and run physician practices, has been

⁵³ Cleo Burtley and Laura Jacobs, The Camden Group for the California Health Care Foundation, *Physician-Hospital Integration 2012: How Health Care Reform Is Reshaping California's Delivery System*, April 2012, chcf.org.

⁵⁴ Academy Health, "Integration, Concentration, and Competition in the Provider Marketplace," Research Insights paper based on December 2010 meeting funded by the U.S. Agency for Health Care Research and Quality, p. 4, http://www.academyhealth.org/files/publications/AH_R_Integration%20FINAL2.

⁵⁵ Paul Ginsburg, "Wide Variation in Hospital and Physician Payment Rates Evidence of Provider Market Power," Center for Studying Health System Change, *Research Brief*, No. 16, November 2010, http://hschange.org/CONTENT/ 1162/1162.pdf. The ability to negotiate higher rates for services is more pronounced for hospital groups and provider groups associated with hospitals.

⁵⁶ Francis Crosson, "The Delivery System Matters," *Health Affairs*, Vol. 24, No. 6, November 2005, pp. 1543-1548.

⁵⁷ American Medical Association, Practice Management Center, "ACOs, CO-OPs, and Other Options, A How-To Manual for Physicians Navigating a Post-Reform World," Second Edition, http://www.ama-assn.org/resources/doc/psa/ physician-how-to-manual.pdf. Practices often contract with management firms to take over their billing and administrative functions. Physician management companies can also buy physician practices and often take the overall company public.

growing,⁵⁸ particularly those that contract with hospitals. There is also growth in private equity investment in physician practices.⁵⁹

There are no definitive figures regarding practice consolidation. However, the accounting and consulting firm Moss Adams has documented a doubling of mergers, acquisitions, and private equity investments in specialty physician practices between 2008 and 2012.⁶⁰ In 2008 there were 125 mergers, acquisitions, public offerings, or private equity investments involving specialty practices, according to the firm. In 2010 there were nearly 240, and more than 260 were estimated for 2011.⁶¹ Moss Adams says the ACA "is bringing about or accelerating" changes in the health care system, including creation of larger medical group practices and "transactions among specialty physician groups, medical clinics, hospitals, and other organizations looking to take advantage of scale and cost savings."

Some recent examples of growing physician organizations include the 2011 merger of Cogent HMG and the Hospitalists Management Group, which created the largest private hospitalist company in the country.⁶² (Hospitalists are physicians who coordinate patient care in hospital settings.) Cogent now contracts with about 130 hospitals around the country. Another example is IPC The Hospitalist Company. The company in 2011 employed or was affiliated with about 1,200 hospitalists, including doctors and other health professionals, and had employment agreements with about 600 additional professionals.⁶³ Mednax, a physician management firm, oversees 1,400 doctors and nurse practitioners in its Pediatrix division who specialize in neonatal and pediatric care, as well as more than 400 doctors and 500 nurse anesthetists in its American Anesthesiology group.⁶⁴

Hospital Affiliation and Employment

The AHA survey finding a 32% increase in hospital employment of doctors from 2000 to 2010 is one indication of the growing consolidation in this area.⁶⁵ In another example, the physician search and consulting firm Merritt Hawkins told the House Committee on Small Business in July 2012 that from April 1, 2011, to March 31, 2012, company employees conducted more than 2,700 physician search assignments for hospitals, medical groups, and small physician practices. Only 2% of those physician searches were on behalf of entities seeking doctors to start a practice in an area or to join a solo practitioner as a partner, compared with 42% in 2004. Overall, 63% of the

⁵⁸ Scott Becker, Kristian Werling, and Holly Carnell, "Private Equity Investing in Healthcare -13 Hot and 4 Cold Areas," McGuireWoods, 2011, http://www.mcguirewoods.com/news-resources/publications/health_care/private-equity-investing-healthcare.pdf.

⁵⁹ Maggie Manning, "Private equity is back and targeting physicians groups," *Tampa Bay Business Journal*, May 11, 2012, http://www.bizjournals.com/tampabay/print-edition/2012/05/11/private-equity-is-back-and-targeting.html?page= all.

 ⁶⁰ Wiley Kitchell and Robert Hurst, "Specialty Physician Practice Trends," Moss-Adams, *MANow*, October 2011, http://www.mossadams.com/mossadams/media/Documents/Publications/MA%20Now/MA-Now_HCG_Oct2011.pdf.
 ⁶¹ Ibid

⁶² CogentHMG, http://www.cogenthmg.com/about-us.

⁶³ IPC The Hospitalist Company, Presentation at 30th Annual J.P. Morgan Healthcare Conference, January 2012, http://files.shareholder.com/downloads/HOSP/1725641096x0x532414/8d41badc-1c48-4c89-a2e4-67fc90aa3c59/ IPC_Investor_Presentation_JP_Morgan_1_12_Final.pdf.

⁶⁴ Mednax Presentation, Bank of America 2012 Health Care Conference, May 16, 2012, http://www.mednax.com/body_iframe_inv.cfm?id=7&fr=true.

⁶⁵American Hospital Association, AHA Hospital Statistics, 2012 Edition, p. vii.

group's physician search assignments were carried out for hospitals that wanted to hire doctors, compared with 11% in 2004.⁶⁶

Likewise, a 2011 survey by the American College of Cardiology found that 40% of hospital administrators had acquired or considered acquiring a cardiology practice during the previous two years, and 20% were considering a future acquisition.⁶⁷ In one example of the changes, the number of hospitalists has risen from less than 1,000 in the late 1990s to nearly 30,000 in 2011.⁶⁸

Physician-hospital affiliation can take a number of forms, from contracts for specific services with physician practices or organizations, such as those outlined above, to full-time employment of doctors (see **Figure 1**).

Figure I. Physician Medical Staff Arrangements with U.S. Community Hospitals



2010 data on working arrangements of doctors affiliated with or employed by hospitals.

Source: American Hospital Association, AHA Hospital Statistics 2012 Edition.

Notes: Survey includes dentists, but few are employed by the community hospitals surveyed.

Over time, physician-hospital arrangements have shifted as financial incentives have changed.⁶⁹ Some general examples of possible affiliations include the following:

⁶⁶ Testimony of Mark Smith, President, Merritt Hawkins, Before the House Committee on Small Business, Subcommittee on Investigations, Oversight, and Regulations, "The Decline of Solo and Small Medical Practices," July 19, 2012, http://smbiz.house.gov/UploadedFiles/7-19_Smith_Testimony.pdf.

⁶⁷ American College of Cardiology, "Hospital Administrators Identify Recruitment of Cardiology Team Among Biggest Challenges," News Release, March 20, 2012, http://www.cardiosource.org/News-Media/Media-Center/News-Releases/2012/03/HospitalAdminRecruitment.aspx. The group surveyed 300 hospital executives and cardiovascular professionals representing 291 hospitals and medical facilities.

⁶⁸ Victor Fuchs, "Major Trends in the U.S. Health Economy since 1950," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, Vol. 366, March 15, 2012, http://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMp1200478.

⁶⁹ Lawton Burns and Ralph Muller, "Hospital-Physician Collaboration: Landscape of Economic Integration and Impact on Clinical Integration," *The Milbank Quarterly*, Vol., 86, No. 3, 2008, http://www.milbank.org/publications/themilbank-quarterly/featured-articles/article/2918/hospital-physician-collaboration-landscape-of-economic-integration-(continued...)

- Physician practices can contract to provide doctors and other staff for a hospital independently or work through intermediaries like physician management companies.
- Hospitals can directly employ doctors. In states that have laws barring the corporate practice of medicine, some hospitals have created non-profit foundations to secure physician services.⁷⁰
- Doctors and hospitals can form physician-hospital organizations or other forms of joint ventures to provide services, bid for insurance contracts, or achieve financial and clinical integration.

According to the AHA, affiliations involving independent groups of physicians have been declining in prevalence, while arrangements in which physicians are salaried employees have been increasing.⁷¹ For physicians, selling a practice to a hospital or entering into a close financial agreement can reduce overhead, while providing predictable schedules and compensation. For hospitals, buying or affiliating with practices allows development of areas of excellence, ensures staff, provides a network of referrals from physicians, and can give the combined entity more leverage with insurers.⁷² Affiliation in the form of a joint venture such as an outpatient center can be a way for the hospital to increase revenues and ward off competition from independent doctors and practices that open such centers.⁷³

Differing Medicare reimbursement based on provider status may also be providing incentives for physician-hospital affiliations.⁷⁴ In 2011, Medicare paid more for a 15-minute evaluation and management physician visit in a hospital outpatient setting than it did for a visit in an independent physician's office. Because hospitals also charge facility fees for physician visits, costs are not only higher costs for payers but also for patients, since the fees are subject to deductibles and coinsurance. In a 2012 report to Congress, Medpac, noting increased outpatient billing as more hospitals employ physicians or buy physician practices, said that if current trends continue, Medicare costs could rise by \$2 billion annually by 2020:⁷⁵

This payment difference creates a financial incentive for hospitals to purchase freestanding physician offices and convert them into (outpatient departments) OPDs without changing

^{(...}continued)

and-impact-on-clinical-integration.

⁷⁰ "Hospital/Physician Integration, Three Key Models," Member Briefing, American Health Lawyers Association, October 2011, http://www.wilentz.com/Files/ArticlesandPublicationsFileFiles/308/ArticlePublicationFile/Hospital-Physician_Integration_Three_Key_Models_MB.pdf.

⁷¹ American Hospital Association, *AHA Hospital Statistics, 2012 Edition*, p. ix.

⁷² Rob Grannum and Nancy Schauer, "Achieving Success in New Era of Hospital Physician Alignment," Moss-Adams, *MANow*, February 2011, http://www.mossadams.com/mossadams/media/Documents/Publications/Health%20Care/MA-Now_HCG_Feb2011.pdf?ext=.pdf.

⁷³ Robert Zasa, "Physician-Hospital Joint Ventures; Alignment of Physicians With Hospitals," *Becker's Hospital Review*, September 8, 2011, http://www.beckershospitalreview.com/hospital-physician-relationships/physician-hospital-joint-ventures-alignment-of-physicians-with-hospitals.html.

⁷⁴ There is growing attention to the potential for increased consumer costs when some physician practices operate in a hospital setting. For example, see Dave Davis, "Medical Billing, A World Of Hurt: Costs Rise For Patients On High Deductible Insurance Plans As Hospital Health Centers Replace Private Practice Doctors," *The Plain Dealer*, September 22, 2012.

⁷⁵ Medicare Payment Advisory Commission, *Report to the Congress, Medicare Payment Policy*, March 2012, p. 75, http://www.medpac.gov/documents/Mar12_EntireReport.pdf.

their location or patient mix. Indeed, (evaluation and management) clinic visits provided in OPDs increased 6.7% in 2010, potentially increasing Medicare and beneficiary expenditures without any change in patient care.⁷⁶

As the experience of the 1990s showed, hospital employment of physicians has not always been successful. Hospitals may not make as much money as expected, and may incur initial losses. An analysis in *The New England Journal of Medicine* estimated that hospitals lose \$150,000 to \$250,000 per year for the first three years they employ a doctor, as physicians adapt to the new system.⁷⁷ During the 1990s, some hospitals found that physician productivity declined after practices were purchased by hospitals. Merritt Hawkins data indicate that even though a number of hospitals are now preparing to make the transition to coordinated systems such as ACOs, they are still basing physician compensation on a fee-for-service or volume basis—offering new hires a salary with a productivity bonus.⁷⁸

Affiliation with Insurers and Other Payers

Insurance companies are affiliating with physicians as they attempt to meld coverage and delivery systems to better control costs. Some analysts suggest that physicians may find their financial and professional interests are more aligned with insurers, given that emerging payment systems such as medical homes and ACOs increase pressure to reduce costs and increase quality by improving preventive care and follow-up care to avoid hospitalizations.⁷⁹ However, the AMA in a manual for members notes that the success of such arrangements, as with other ACO configurations, depends on a number of factors regarding the amount of decision making insurers are willing to give physicians and other professional and financial concerns.⁸⁰

Some recent examples of affiliation include the following: UnitedHealth Group, a large California insurer, in 2011 bought the management arm of Monarch HealthCare, the largest physician group in Orange County, California.⁸¹ Health insurance firm Cigna has expanded its accountable care network via deals with physician practices in seven states, and now has more than 20 such plans.⁸² Pennsylvania-based Highmark Inc., a major insurer in the Blue Cross/Blue Shield system,

⁷⁶ Ibid., Executive Summary, p. xiv. MedPAC suggested that Congress equalize payments by gradually reducing reimbursement for certain hospital-based physician visits.

⁷⁷ Robert Kocher and Nikhil Sahni, "Hospitals' Race to Employ Physicians—The Logic Behind a Money-Losing Proposition," *The New England Journal of Medicine*, No. 364, May 12, 2011, pp. 1790-1793. For hospitals to break even, newly hired primary care doctors must generate at least 30% more visits, and new specialists 25% more referrals, than they do at the outset of the business arrangement, according to the article.

⁷⁸ Merritt Hawkins, "2011 Review of Physician Recruiting Incentives, Summary Report," http://www.merritthawkins.com/uploadedfiles/mha2011incentivesurveypreview.pdf. The report was based recruiting and placement activity between April 1, 2010 to March 31, 2011.

⁷⁹ Christopher Weaver, "Managed Care Enters The Exam Room As Insurers Buy Doctor Groups," *Kaiser Health News*, July 1, 2011, http://www.kaiserhealthnews.org/Stories/2011/July/01/unitedhealth-insurers-buy-doctors-groups.aspx; Rebecca Vesley, "Marriage of Convenience," *Modern Healthcare*, January 2, 2012, http://www.modernhealthcare.com/article/20120102/MAGAZINE/301029918#.

⁸⁰ American Medical Association, Practice Management Center, "ACOs, Co-ops, and Other Options, A How-to Manual for Physicians Navigating a Post-Reform World," Second Edition, p. 8, http://www.ama-assn.org/resources/ doc/psa/physician-how-to-manual.pdf.

⁸¹ The deal led to complaints by Blue Shield of California that the Monarch doctor network was steering patients away from Blue Shield plans.

⁸² Cigna Corporation, "Cigna Works with Physicians to Bring Accountable Care to 94,000 More Individuals From Maine to California," News Release, July 19, 2012, http://newsroom.cigna.com/NewsReleases/cigna-works-with-(continued...)

has been working on an acquisition of the West Penn Allegheny Health System, a physician-led hospital and multi-group practice network. The move is part of a larger effort by Highmark to develop an integrated care system.⁸³

Delivery Reforms

Physician practices, hospitals, and other health care providers in recent months have announced affiliations to qualify as accountable care organizations (ACOs) under the ACA.⁸⁴ Group practices, independent practice associations, and networks or independent practitioners can participate if they meet HHS standards.⁸⁵ In the simplest case, an ACO contracts with payers to be accountable for the continuum of care provided to a defined population. If the costs of care provided are less than targeted amounts, and certain quality measures are achieved, the ACO and the payer share the savings. Under the Medicare Shared Savings Program, the government will contract with ACOs that will assume responsibility for improving quality of care and coordinating care across providers. ACOs must be financially and organizationally integrated.

Some industry analysts say the ACOs could have a notable effect on the health care marketplace. Morgan Stanley in a June 2011 analysis predicted the ACA would accelerate health care consolidation, noting that the share of physicians in independent practices was declining by 1% to 3% a year as doctors entered into financial arrangements with hospitals and other providers. While most of the initial ACOs that formed were sponsored by hospitals, however, a growing number are being built around physician practices or insurers.⁸⁶

The ACA includes other provisions intended to increase health system coordination that could help to drive additional integration. One is medical homes, where the primary physician's office assumes the role for coordinating care across other providers to improve outcomes and reduce costs. The ACA also includes Medicare "bundled" payments, where billing is based on the totality of a treatment, and the law gives physicians new ability to form health co-ops or affiliate with

^{(...}continued)

physicians-to-bring-accountable-care-to-94-000-more-individuals-from-maine-to-california.htm. Wellpoint is changing its reimbursement for primary care providers by offering incentive payments for medical home-type programs to increase coordination of care and preventive care.

⁸³ Highmark and West Allegheny Health System Affiliation Agreement, News Release, October 31, 2011, https://www.highmark.com/hmk2/about/newsroom/2011/hmwp/

Affiliation_Agreement_Exhibits_and_Schedules_redacted.pdf.

⁸⁴ CRS Report R41474, *Accountable Care Organizations and the Medicare Shared Savings Program*, by (name reda cted); and The Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, "First Accountable Care Organizations Under the Medicare Shared Savings Program," News Release, April 10, 2012,

http://www.cms.gov/apps/media/press/factsheet.asp?Counter=4334&intNumPerPage=10&checkDate=&checkKey=&s rchType=1&numDays=3500&srchOpt=0&srchData=&keywordType=All&chkNewsType=6&intPage=&showAll=&p Year=&year=&desc=&cboOrder=date.

⁸⁵ Department of Health and Human Services, "HHS Announces New Incentives For Providers To Work Together Through Accountable Care Organizations When Caring For People With Medicare," October 20, 2011, http://www.hhs.gov/news/press/2011pres/10/20111020a.html.

⁸⁶ David Muhlestein, Andrew Croshaw, Tom Merrill and Christian Pena, "Growth and Dispersion of Accountable Care Organizations, June 2012 Update" Leavitt Partners, http://leavittpartners.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/06/Growth-and-Dispersion-of-ACOs-June-2012-Update.pdf; and Victoria Stagg Elliott, ACO Growth Driven Fastest By Physicians, *American Medical News*, July 2, 2012, http://www.ama-assn.org/amednews/2012/07/02/bisa0702.htm.

insurers and managed care plans.⁸⁷ A GAO examination of bundled payments found they are difficult to set up and administer without provider affiliation.⁸⁸

Some analysts predict the market changes now underway will be more long-lasting and pervasive than was the case during the 1990s, given moves toward integrated care.⁸⁹ For example, private equity firms looking at investing in health care providers are targeting companies that can capitalize on consolidation by providing management services or physician staff for health care providers. Bain & Co. in a recent report predicted that health care providers and services will become more significant for investors. As Bain analysts wrote: "We expect significant strategic interest in accountable-care oriented investments, including investments that stretch across traditional boundaries (such as UnitedHealth Group's acquisition of Monarch Care)."⁹⁰

Concierge Practices

While the main trends appear to be consolidation, a small but growing number of doctors are responding to pressures to change health care delivery and reimbursement by creating concierge practices, where physicians see fewer patients who pay an annual fee to receive care. In return, patients get enhanced services such as longer office visits, more in-depth physicals, and other preventive and continuous care. Because physicians in concierge practices see fewer patients on average, there have been questions about the potential impact on physician supply. To date, however, the number of such practices remains relatively small.

A 2010 study by researchers at the University of Chicago and Georgetown University for Medpac found there were at least 756 retainer-based physicians providing care (a number the report said probably represented the minimum), with average fees from about \$1,500 to \$2,000, although the physicians interviewed charged anywhere from \$600 to \$5,400.⁹¹ The physicians interviewed by the researchers had 100 to 425 patients in their practices, compared to more than 2,000 before starting or joining a concierge practice. Large, regional concierge groups include MDVIP, headquartered in Boca Raton, FL, and⁹² New York-based Concierge Choice Physicians.⁹³

Several states have examined whether concierge medicine is in compliance with their insurance laws, and there have also been issues regarding whether the additional fee is in compliance with government and other insurance policies.⁹⁴ For example, concierge practices can only include

⁸⁷ CRS Report R42029, *Physician Supply and the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act*, by (name redacted) and (name redacted).

⁸⁸ Government Accountability Office, "Subject: Medicare: Private Sector Initiatives to Bundle Hospital and Physician Payments for an Episode of Care," January 31, 2011, p.9, http://www.gao.gov/new.items/d11126r.pdf.

⁸⁹ Merritt Hawkins for The Physicians Foundation, *Health Reform and the Decline of Physician Private Practice*, October 2010, http://www.physiciansfoundation.org/uploadedFiles/Health Reform and the Decline of Physician Private Practice.pdf.

⁹⁰ Bain & Co., "Global Healthcare Private Equity Report 2012," http://www.bain.com/Images/ BAIN REPORT Global Healthcare Private Equity Report 2012.pdf.

⁹¹ Elizabeth Hargrave, Ayesha Mahmud, Kate Quirk, Laura Summer, and Jack Hoadley, "Retainer - Based Physicians: Characteristics, Impact, and Policy Considerations," MedPAC, October, 2010, http://www.medpac.gov/documents/ oct10_retainerbasedphysicians_contractor_cb.pdf.

⁹² MDVIP, http://www.mdvip.com/pressreleases/mdvipgrowthistransformingprimarycare.aspx.

⁹³ Concierge Choice Physicians, http://choice.md/about.

⁹⁴ *Knowledge@Wharton*, "Concierge Medicine: The Doctor Is (Always) In, If You Pay Enough," November 22, 2011, http://knowledge.wharton.upenn.edu/article.cfm?articleid=2884.

Medicare patients if (1) the physician elects to opt out of Medicare and does not treat any Medicare beneficiaries for two years, or (2) the physician contracts to provide concierge care only for non-Medicare covered services.

Legal Issues

As physicians seek to affiliate with other practices or providers, through ACOs or other means, they must comply with state and federal laws designed to ensure fair competition and transparency, as well as prevent over-utilization of services in the health care sector. Among the laws are federal antitrust and anti-kickback statutes, state laws barring the corporate practice of medicine, and the Stark law that imposes limitations on physician self-referrals.⁹⁵

Federal antitrust laws are directed at ensuring that markets remain competitive. Antitrust is a means of governing market behavior that is, in essence, the flip side of market regulation accomplished via regulatory oversight. The consolidation or integration of health care entities, or other behavior by them (joint and/or unilateral), even if prompted by or taken in furtherance of achieving some level of joint functioning deemed necessary to achieve the stated goals of the ACA or other improvements in the health care sector, could create cause for antitrust concern. Joint negotiation over fees or terms of reimbursement by physicians or other providers is an example of behavior that might implicate the antitrust laws, for example.

Applicable antitrust or antitrust-related provisions include Sections 1 and 2 of the Sherman Act (15 U.S.C. §§1, 2), which prohibit, respectively, "contracts or conspiracies in restraint of trade" and monopolization or attempted monopolization; and Section 7 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. §18), the so-called "anti-merger" provision; both are enforceable by the antitrust agencies (Antitrust Division of the Department of Justice, FTC), as well as by individual plaintiffs. Section 5 of the FTC Act, which prohibits "unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce," is enforceable only by the commission. The FTC and the DOJ have issued guidance regarding ACOs and other configurations that could pass antitrust review, and those that might be problematic.⁹⁶ The DOJ and FTC have been investigating some hospital physician mergers.⁹⁷

Medicare and Medicaid anti-kickback law (42 U.S.C. §1320a-7b(b)) makes it a felony for a person to knowingly and willfully offer, pay, solicit, or receive anything of value (i.e., "remuneration") in return for a referral or to induce generation of business reimbursable under a federal health care program. The statute prohibits both the offer or payment of remuneration for

⁹⁵ CRS Report RS22743, *Health Care Fraud and Abuse Laws Affecting Medicare and Medicaid: An Overview*, by Jennifer Staman. The Stark law includes exceptions applicable to compensation arrangements that include office space and equipment rental arrangements, physician recruitment, as well as bona fide employment relationships. See 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn (e) and implementing regulations.

⁹⁶Federal Trade Commission and the U.S. Department of Justice, "Federal Trade Commission, Department of Justice Issue Final Statement of Antitrust Policy Enforcement Regarding Accountable Care Organizations," October 20, 2011, http://www.ftc.gov/opa/2011/10/aco.shtm and "Statement of Antitrust Enforcement Policy Regarding Accountable Care Organizations Participating in the Medicare Shared Savings Program," http://www.justice.gov/atr/public/health_care/276458.pdf.

⁹⁷ Joe Carlson, "Picking up the Scent Wave of practice acquisitions by hospitals has antitrust regulators on notice," *Modern Healthcare*, June 9, 2012, http://www.modernhealthcare.com/article/20120609/MAGAZINE/306099971/ picking-up-the-scent#; and Letter from Idaho Attorney General to St. Luke's Health System,

http://bloximages.chicago2.vip.townnews.com/idahopress.com/content/tncms/assets/v3/editorial/a/41/a41ca640-7091-11e1-9ee2-0019bb2963f4/4f652d6450012.pdf.pdf.

patient referrals, as well as the offer or payment of anything of value in return for purchasing, leasing, ordering, or arranging for, or recommending the purchase, lease, or ordering of any item or service that is reimbursable by a federal health care program. Persons found guilty of violating the anti-kickback statute may be subject to a fine of up to \$25,000, imprisonment of up to five years, and exclusion from participation in federal health care programs for up to one year.⁹⁸

The Stark provisions that impose limitations on physician self-referrals were enacted in 1989 under the Ethics in Patient Referrals Act (42 U.S.C. §1395nn).⁹⁹ The Stark law, as amended, and its implementing regulations prohibit certain physician self-referrals for designated health services that may be paid for by Medicare or Medicaid. In its basic application, the Stark law provides that if (1) a physician (or an immediate family member of a physician) has a "financial relationship" with an entity, the physician may not make a referral to the entity for the furnishing of designated health services (for which payment may be made under Medicare or Medicaid), and (2) the entity may not present (or cause to be presented) a claim to the federal health care program or bill to any individual or entity for DHS furnished pursuant to a prohibited referral. The general idea behind the prohibitions in the Stark law is to prevent physicians from making referrals based on financial gain, thus preventing overutilization and increases in health care costs.

The laws include some exceptions for direct employment arrangements, and some legal experts say direct employment of physicians may be the most straightforward way for hospitals and other providers to integrate with physicians, given the legal complexities that can be involved in other arrangements.¹⁰⁰ There can be financial downsides to direct employment, as hospitals discovered during the 1990s when they did not realize expected financial gains after buying physician practices.

Issues for Congress

Congress has been paying close attention to consolidation in the health care industry, and specifically in physician practices, including hearings in the Ways and Means Committee and the House Committee on Small Business during the 112th Congress.¹⁰¹ There are a number of reasons that lawmakers are taking an active interest in the market developments, including physician complaints about federal policies and concerns that a decline in smaller, independent practices could exacerbate existing physician shortages in areas such as rural regions. Lawmakers also want to ensure that the market changes are meeting the goals of expanding access and addressing government and private health care spending. Because health care is highly regulated, and government payments make up an increasing share of physician revenues, congressional action

⁹⁸ CRS Report RS22743, Health Care Fraud and Abuse Laws Affecting Medicare and Medicaid: An Overview, by Jennifer Staman.

⁹⁹ Ibid. and Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, "Physician Self-Referral," https://www.cms.gov/ PhysicianSelfReferral/.

¹⁰⁰ American Medical Association, *Competing in the Marketplace, How Physicians Can Improve Quality and Increase Their Value in the Health Care Market Through Medical Practice Integration*, March 2008, http://www.ama-assn.org/ resources/doc/psa/competing-in-market.pdf.

¹⁰¹ House Committee on Ways and Means, Hearing on Health Care Industry Consolidation, September 9, 2011, http://waysandmeans.house.gov/news/documentsingle.aspx?DocumentID=272374; and House Committee on Small Business, Subcommittee on Investigations, Oversight, and Regulations, "Health Care Realignment and Regulation: The Demise of Small and Solo Medical Practices?" July 19, 2012, http://smallbusiness.house.gov/calendar/ eventsingle.aspx?EventID=302953.

can affect the pace of practice consolidation and other market trends. In general, Congress is monitoring developments in several broad areas:

Medical Spending

Rising health care costs have led to federal, state, and private efforts to rein in medical spending, including controlling physician payments and providing incentives for consolidation to realize greater efficiency. One question surrounding affiliation between physicians and other health organizations such as hospitals is whether they will help to reduce costs. There is concern that such affiliations could instead lead to higher prices for consumers and the government as the larger entities gain negotiating leverage with insurers and can charge more for some Medicare-covered services. To date, studies have provided mixed results on whether closer affiliation improves efficiencies and leads to reduction in prices for health care services.

A study of integration between physician practices and hospitals that took place in California during the 1990s did not find evidence that such affiliations increased prices. There was evidence that such vertical integration may have reduced prices, though the findings were not precise nor statistically significant.¹⁰² Other studies have found differing effects, while a review of research on doctor-hospital affiliation found that such alignments were often designed to increase market power by reducing competition, and that the limited evidence on price impacts was mixed.¹⁰³ The study noted that most of the arrangements studied thus far have involved coordination of services, but not clinical integration of the type envisioned in programs such as ACOs.

While the emerging incentives are different, given quality-based initiatives in the ACA and in a number of private insurance plans, some analysts express concerns that large organizations—such as ACOs built around a major regional hospital or large physician group—could gain more market share and negotiating leverage with insurers, which could lead to higher prices.¹⁰⁴ Anecdotally, a growing number of news reports indicate that patients are facing higher charges for services when physicians provide services in hospital outpatient settings, partly due to differences in Medicare payment.¹⁰⁵ Some analysts say pricing concerns can be mitigated with stronger antitrust oversight and have noted an increase in FTC and DOJ investigations of proposed mergers due to concerns about their impact on the competitive landscape.¹⁰⁶

At the same time, coordinated care delivery systems are in the nascent stage, and health care payments are still mainly based on volume of services rather than quality improvements. As Merritt Hawkins data indicate, many hospitals now hiring physicians or buying practices are basing physician compensation partly on productivity, which, combined with higher Medicare

 ¹⁰³ Martin Gaynor and Robert Town, "The Impact of Hospital Consolidation—Update," Robert Wood Johnson Foundation, Synthesis Project, June 2012, http://www.rwjf.org/content/dam/farm/reports/issue_briefs/2012/rwjf73261.
 ¹⁰⁴ Robert Berenson, Paul Ginsburg, Jon Christianson, and Tracy Yee, "The Growing Power of Some Providers to Win Steep Payment Increases from Insurers Suggests Policy Remedies May Be Needed," *Health Affairs*, Vol. 31, No. 5, May 2012, p. 973-981.

¹⁰² Frederico Ciliberto and David Dranove, "The Effect of Physician-Hospital Affiliations on Hospital Prices in California," *Journal of Health Economics*, Vol. 25, 2006, p. 29-38, http://people.virginia.edu/~fc3p/papers/CilibertoDranove.pdf.

¹⁰⁵ Anna Wilde Matthews, "Same Doctor Visit, Double the Cost," *The Wall Street Journal*, August 27, 2012.

¹⁰⁶ Kristiana Garcia and Toby Singer, "Pennsylvania Attorney General Challenge to Physician Group Consolidation: Lessons for the Future," American Health Lawyers Association, Antitrust Practice Group, November 2011.

reimbursement for hospital-based services, could result in a higher number of physician services going forward.¹⁰⁷

Access

According to some experts, the unfolding efforts at physician coordination could improve access to care, by increasing competition in health care markets and creating networks that provide additional services and access to specialists to underserved consumers, such as Medicaid patients.¹⁰⁸

But lawmakers and analysts have expressed concerns that as more doctors work in larger practices, there could be a change in the traditional doctor-patient relationship and potentially fewer entry points into the health care system if physician offices, outpatient clinics, or other facilities in a local area close.¹⁰⁹ Another open question, as government and private payers base more payments on quality improvement measures, is whether such patient-driven systems could perpetuate disparities in the health care system. For example, some experts have asked whether ACOs and other quality-based systems could have a disincentive to treat sicker, more expensive patients and be more selective in their choice of patients, though HHS has designed the ACOs to make such so-called cherry picking difficult.

Some lawmakers have suggested that consolidation could make it harder for rural areas to attract physicians. Rural areas have long had trouble recruiting doctors. But precisely because there are fewer physicians in rural areas, they may have more individual clout in negotiating with local hospitals during the current market evolution, some analysts say.¹¹⁰

The issue of access also goes to the question of whether consumers will have as much freedom to see the doctor of their choice, or visit a specialist, in integrated health care systems where physicians work for insurers or hospitals. In other words, will ACOs and medical homes be managed differently than the managed care plans that created consumer unrest in the 1990s? Some analysts say it will be important to analyze required information on patients' access to primary and specialty physicians in the emerging health organizations.¹¹¹

Access is also linked to the issue of physician supply, such as the potential for growth in concierge practices that accept fewer patients and the projected shortage of primary care doctors. In an effort to increase supply, and possibly reduce prices for certain services, state legislatures

¹⁰⁷ Conversely, cuts in Medicare reimbursement may affect hospitals that hire more doctors based partly on financial analyses including differences in payment rates.

¹⁰⁸ Thomas Greaney, "Health Care Consolidation and Competition after PPACA," House Committee on the Judiciary Subcommittee on Intellectual Property, Competition, and the Internet, May 18, 2012, http://judiciary.house.gov/hearings/Hearings%202012/Greaney%2005182012.pdf.

¹⁰⁹ Cleo Burtley and Laura Jacobs of the Camden Group, "Physician-Hospital Integration 2012: How Health Reform is Shaping California's Delivery System," California Healthcare Foundation, April 2012, http://www.chcf.org/~/media/ MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/P/PDF%20PhysicianHospIntegration.pdf.

¹¹⁰ American Medical Association, Practice Management Center, "ACOs, Co-ops, and Other Options, A How-to Manual for Physicians Navigating a Post-Reform World," Second Edition, p. 8, http://www.ama-assn.org/resources/ doc/psa/physician-how-to-manual.pdf.

¹¹¹ Cleo Burtley and Laura Jacobs of the Camden Group, "Physician-Hospital Integration 2012: How Health Reform is Shaping California's Delivery System," California Healthcare Foundation, April 2012, http://www.chcf.org/~/media/MEDIA%20LIBRARY%20Files/PDF/P/PDF%20PhysicianHospIntegration.pdf.

and Congress have debated initiatives to expand the scope of allowable care provided by nurse practitioners and physician assistants.

Coordinated Care/Quality

New payment and delivery systems in Medicare and private plans are based on the theory that coordinated care can bring about increased quality, thereby reducing costs and allowing payers to enhance physician reimbursement. Some demonstration programs have shown potential for savings, though the scale is as yet unclear.¹¹² A Congressional Budget Office analysis of past demonstration programs designed to reduce Medicare spending by implementing quality care initiatives concluded that a number cut hospitalizations and improved measures of patient care, but most did not meet their spending goals. The report also noted that physicians may have incentives to upcode, or increase the severity of an initial diagnosis, in order to show larger quality improvements.¹¹³ A 2012 analysis of a coordinated care pilot study at the University of Washington at St. Louis hospital found notable improvements in quality of care, as well as health savings.¹¹⁴

There may also be differences in the ability of smaller versus larger physician practices to experiment with new quality-based systems such as medical homes. Practices bear many of the up-front costs of creating new coordinated care services, while many savings may be dispersed through the broader health care system.¹¹⁵

Another potential factor that could affect efforts to improve coordination of care is increased segmentation of physicians as a result of ongoing market changes. A 2012 report on the future of medical practices noted:

These changes in the practice environment have given rise to a large segment of the physician community that no longer hospitalizes patients, but rather manages them exclusively in ambulatory settings (imaging, surgery, chemotherapy, etc.) ... In an increasing number of places, there are now two non-overlapping physician communities: physicians who never visit the hospital and physicians who never leave it, as is the case in most of Europe.¹¹⁶

Under many quality-based systems, primary care physicians are envisioned as the focal point for managing patient care. In some scenarios, coordinating physicians or medical groups can face

¹¹² John Iglehart, "Assessing an ACO Prototype—Medicare's Physician Group Practice Demonstration," New England Journal of Medicine, 364:198-200, January 20, 2011.

¹¹³ Congressional Budget Office, "Lessons from Medicare's Demonstration Projects on Disease Management, Care Coordination, and Value-Based Payment," Issue Brief, January 2012, http://cbo.gov/sites/default/files/cbofiles/ attachments/01-18-12-MedicareDemoBrief.pdf.

¹¹⁴ Deborah Peikes, Greg Peterson, Randall Brown, Sandy Graff, and, John Lynch, "How Changes In Washington University's Medicare Coordinated Care Demonstration Pilot Ultimately Achieved Savings," *Health Affairs*, Vol. 31, No. 6, June 2012, p. 1216-1226.

¹¹⁵ Robert Reid, "Financial Implications of the Patient-Centered Medical Home," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, Vol. 308, No. 1, July 4, 2012.

¹¹⁶ Jeff Goldsmith, Associate Professor, University of Virginia for the Physicians Foundation, "The Future of Medical Practice: Creating Options for Practicing Physicians to Control Their Professional Destiny," July 2012, http://www.physiciansfoundation.org/uploadedFiles/

Future%20of%20Medical%20Practices%20%28Goldsmith%29%20Final.pdf.

financial penalties based on the quality of care by other providers whose actions they do not directly control. With the rise of hospitalists, emergency room physicians, and other hospitalbased physicians with segmented roles, such coordination can be more challenging, according to some analysts. For example, many lower-income consumers use emergency rooms as their entree to care. The growing use of specialized emergency room doctors and other hospital-based physicians who make the decision to admit patients may mean that primary care physicians are not brought into the decision-making loop in an early fashion. Such issues could be addressed in structured care organizations, analysts say.¹¹⁷

¹¹⁷ Emily Carrier, Tracy Yee, Rachel A. Holzwart, "Coordination Between Emergency and Primary Care Physicians," National Institute for Health Care Reform, *Research Brief*, No. 3, February 2011, http://www.nihcr.org/ED-Coordination.html.

Appendix. Physician Income and Practice Costs

Although doctors are among the best-paid professionals in the country, they have less ability than some other white collar workers to determine prices for their services, which are largely set by the federal payment rates in the Medicare and Medicaid programs or via negotiations with insurers.¹¹⁸

Physician income can be affected by factors including (1) specialty, (2) source of payment (public vs. private), and (3) productivity, in terms of the volume or range of services offered. General practitioners and pediatricians make less than specialists such as cardiologists and oncologists,¹¹⁹ for example. Annual survey data from the MGMA provide detailed information on median compensation for physicians in different medical specialties¹²⁰ (see **Table A-1**).

Some studies indicate that physician income has been declining in real terms in recent years. According to one analysis, inflation-adjusted physician fees declined by 25% from 1995 to 2006, a time period during which physicians also worked fewer hours.¹²¹ Income did not appear to decline as much as time worked, however, suggesting that some doctors may have found other ways to earn money, such as performing more tests in their offices, opening outpatient clinics, increasing intensity of services, or providing more expensive services.¹²² A second study found that average physician net income declined about 7% after inflation from 1995 to 2003, though there were differences among specialties.¹²³

¹¹⁸ Paul Ginsburg, "Wide Variation in Hospital and Physician Payment Rates Evidence of Provider Market Power," Center for Studying Health System Change, *Research Brief*, No. 16, November 2010, http://www.hschange.com/ CONTENT/1162/; American medical Association (Medicare Physician Fee Schedule), http://www.cardiosource.org/ Science-And-Quality/Quality-Programs/PINNACLE-Network/~/media/Files/Science%20and%20Quality/ Quality%20Programs/feeschedulesrbrvs.ashx.

¹¹⁹ Thomas Bodenheimer, Mina Matin, and Brian Yoshio Laing, "The Specialist–Generalist Income Gap: Can We Narrow It?," *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, Vol. 23, No. 9, September 2008, p. 1477–1481. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2518004. The ACA includes provisions to boost the number of primary care doctors, including increasing medical school loan forgiveness, reserving more slots in medical schools for primary care doctors and providing financial incentives to such doctors who work in underserved or rural areas.

¹²⁰ The MGMA survey includes a number of hospital-centered integrated delivery systems. In addition, about 40% of the physicians are in practices of more than 150 doctors and only 6% are in practices of four full-time physicians or fewer, which may affect the data. Physicians in large specialty practices tend to earn more on average.

¹²¹ Douglas Staiger, David Auerbach, and Peter Buerhaus, "Trends in the Work Hours of Physicians in the United States," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, Vol. 303, No. 8, February 24, 2010, p. 750.

¹²² Ibid. "The evidence on the relationship between fees and work hours is mixed, with some studies finding that lower fees encourage physicians to work more hours to achieve a target income. Because fees have decreased, some physicians have undertaken other activities to offset the loss in income, such as reducing the proportion of time spent in non-patient care activities, increasing ownership stake in ancillary services, and increasing the intensity of services providers, or spending less time per patient." A number of specialty physician groups operate ambulatory care clinics in areas such as urology, ophthalmology, or plastic surgery, helping to fuel the movement of such services from inpatient hospital settings. Physicians also offer ancillary services such as imaging, which they say improves efficiency and is a convenience for patients. The GAO in a 2008 report said such services may increase costs to the federal government, noting that as more doctors provided in-house imaging to patients, the number of procedures increased.

¹²³ Ha Tu and Paul Ginsburg, "Losing Ground: Physician Income, 1995-2003," Center for Studying Health System Change, Tracking Report, No. 15, June 2006, http://www.hschange.com/CONTENT/851/.

Physician Compensation	2010	Change from 2009
Family Practice	\$189,402	2.94%
Internal Medicine	\$205,379	4.21%
Pediatric/Adolescent Medicine	\$192,148	0.39%
Anesthesiology	\$407,292	-3.83%
Cardiology: Invasive	\$500,993	3.97%
Dermatology	\$430,874	4.16%
Emergency Medicine	\$277,297	5.65%
Gastroenterology	\$463,955	-0.33%
Hematology/Oncology	\$382,934	3.78%
Neurology	\$249,867	5.02%
Obstetrics/Gynecology	\$281,190	-0.51%
Orthopedic Surgery	\$514,659	3.71%
Psychiatry	\$200,694	3.88%
Pulmonary Medicine	\$300,019	4.07%
Radiology: Diagnostic	\$471,253	-1.58%
Surgery: General	\$343,958	2.34%
Urology	\$372,455	-4.66%

 Table A-I. Median Compensation for Select Physician Specialties

Source: Medical Group Management Association.

Notes: Data are based on an annual survey of group practices. The MGMA represents larger medical groups and physician management organizations.

The recession that began in December 2007 and ended in June 2009¹²⁴ may have had an impact on physician income. Physician visits by privately insured patients under age 65 declined by 17% from spring 2009 to the end of 2011.¹²⁵ The decline in the share of people covered by private insurance during that period was smaller than the decline in visits.

Physician practice operating costs have not been declining in concert with real compensation, according to the MGMA.¹²⁶ That may not only make it more financially challenging for some small practices, it may also mean that practices that want to enter into new payment and coordinated care systems such as ACOs or medical homes may have more difficulty raising necessary capital unless they affiliate with other health providers.

¹²⁴ National Bureau of Economic Research, http://www.nber.org/cycles.html.

¹²⁵ Study by Stanford University for the Henry J. Kaiser Family Foundation, "The Economy and Medical Care," November 15, 2011; http://healthreform.kff.org/notes-on-health-insurance-and-reform/2011/november/the-economy-and-medical-care.aspx.

¹²⁶ Data for CRS from MGMA.

Federal Policies Affecting Compensation

Most physicians accept patients insured through the federal Medicare program for the elderly and disabled. Determining the proper level of Medicare physician payments has been a challenge for lawmakers. In the Balanced Budget Act of 1997 (BBA97, P.L. 105-33), Congress created the Medicare Sustainable Growth Rate (SGR) formula, a system for making annual updates to the physician fee schedule.¹²⁷ Since 2002, the SGR formula has resulted in spending above targets and mandated annual cuts in physician reimbursement. With the exception of 2002, when a 4.8% cut went into effect, Congress has voted to override the planned cuts.¹²⁸ The ACA did not address the SGR issue, but includes financial incentives to increase some primary care, including a 10% bonus for Medicare primary care services from 2011 to 2016. The ACA also introduced new Medicare payment systems such as the Medicare Shared Savings Program, where doctors who are part of ACOs receive a part of any savings to Medicare from higher quality, more efficient care.¹²⁹

Solo and group physician practices face costs for acquiring and using electronic health record (EHR) technology to replace paper-based systems. The transition is being driven by Medicare and Medicaid incentive programs, authorized under the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act,¹³⁰ which provide financial assistance to help offset the costs of the systems. In its 2010 final rule establishing the EHR incentive programs, CMS said average EHR implementation costs can be as much as \$54,000 per physician, with subsequent annual maintenance costs as much as \$20,600 per physician.¹³¹ Physicians who meet certain criteria can receive incentive payments under Medicare of up to \$44,000 over five years—plus an additional 10% if practicing in a designated medically underserved area. The payments phase out over time and are replaced by financial penalties. Beginning in 2015, physicians who are not meaningful users of EHR technology will see a slight reduction in Medicare Part B reimbursement.

Author Contact Information

(name redacted) Analyst in Health Care Financing #redacted#@crs.loc.gov, 7-....

¹²⁷ CRS Report R40907, *Medicare Physician Payment Updates and the Sustainable Growth Rate (SGR) System*, by (nam e redacted) and (name redacted).

¹²⁸ Ibid.

¹²⁹ Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services, http://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Medicare-Fee-for-Service-Payment/ sharedsavingsprogram/index.html?redirect=/sharedsavingsprogram/.

¹³⁰ The HITECH Act was incorporated in the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act (ARRA; P.L. 111-5), the economic stimulus package enacted in February 2009. In addition to creating the Medicare and Medicaid EHR incentive programs, the HITECH Act expanded the duties of the HHS Office of the National Coordinator for Health Information Technology, authorized and provided funding for several HIT grant programs, and expanded the health information privacy and security standards under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA).

¹³¹ 75 Federal Register 44492, July 28, 2010.

EveryCRSReport.com

The Congressional Research Service (CRS) is a federal legislative branch agency, housed inside the Library of Congress, charged with providing the United States Congress non-partisan advice on issues that may come before Congress.

EveryCRSReport.com republishes CRS reports that are available to all Congressional staff. The reports are not classified, and Members of Congress routinely make individual reports available to the public.

Prior to our republication, we redacted names, phone numbers and email addresses of analysts who produced the reports. We also added this page to the report. We have not intentionally made any other changes to any report published on EveryCRSReport.com.

CRS reports, as a work of the United States government, are not subject to copyright protection in the United States. Any CRS report may be reproduced and distributed in its entirety without permission from CRS. However, as a CRS report may include copyrighted images or material from a third party, you may need to obtain permission of the copyright holder if you wish to copy or otherwise use copyrighted material.

Information in a CRS report should not be relied upon for purposes other than public understanding of information that has been provided by CRS to members of Congress in connection with CRS' institutional role.

EveryCRSReport.com is not a government website and is not affiliated with CRS. We do not claim copyright on any CRS report we have republished.